Conflict and Error In
The History of Oil

By Louls Reed

The outbreak of the Civil War occurred at a time when western
Virginia was experiencing an industrial revolution." The existence of
oil at Burning Springs had been known since 1842 when the Rathbone
family tried to set up a salt factory and found oil instead. Because oil
was worthless, the athbones had turned to other pursuits, includi
farming, timbering, stcamboating and storekeeping.”

Between 1842 and 1859 petroleum acquired commercial value
through the development of a refining process for kerosene. Some
petroleum deposits in western Pennsylvania and western Virginia
were already known from the experiences of salt drillers. The
opening of the oil field at Titusville, Pennsylvania, in 1859, reminded
speculators that oil had also been found in western Virginia, not
only at Burning Springs, but also at Malden on the Great Kanawha
River’ and near Cisco in Ritchie County. Of these three known de-
posits only Burning Springs achieved the distinction of becoming an
oil field prior to 1861. At the outbreak of the Civil War there were
but two producing oil fields in the world, Titusville and Burning

Springs.

Contrary to what the State Road marker says, there was no oil
activity at Burning Springs in 1859. On February 20, 1860, a specula-
1or named General Samuel D. Karns* leased the “Salt Well™ and
one acre of land surrounding it from the Rathbones. He then pro-
ceeded to perform what is known in the oil industry as a “cleaning

out job,"” and obtained a settled production of eight to nine barrels
a day.*

At the same time the Rathbone brothers, Cass and John, drilled
s second well at Burning Springs, which produced initially eleven
hundred barrels a day. It was this second well and not the first that
precipitated the legendary Burning Springs Oil Rush.”

“\u Coboned Rahbhone of Burning Springs.” West Virginia History, April 1962,
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There are no census records on the first town of Buringe
Springs. In 1860 the place was a farm; in 1870 the population '
1368. State and local histories have uniformly placed the pop B
of Burning Spr}ng?dat 6000 1in the spring of 1861.'* Legen
recollections of older people, ma ified by time, give the
population of ten to fifteen thousgd at itsy peak. %:v; gm
mg‘pmfcsssonal men migrated to Burning Springs“”éﬁ' =
the Rathbones established a private bank there.' R
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of wood, Lacking manila rope, the drilling line was comprised O
hickory poles of equal length with a hook at one end and an eye
at the other. On each drilling crew a scaffold man was stationed high
in the derrick to hook and unhook the poles as the tools were raised
and lowered in the hole.'

After the war began, Wirt County, in common with all of
western Virginia, was the scene of confusion and turmoil. The Judge
of the Circuit Court, Gideon D. Camden, was an avowed Secessionist.
The records show that he was on the bench at Elizabeth on April
14. 1861, and that he conducted court for more than a week there-
after. Apparently, the Restored Government of Virginia appointed
Arthur 1. Boreman of Parkersburg in Judge Camden’s place, though
there is nothing in the records at Elizabeth to show how Boreman
became Judge.' From 1861 to 1863 no regular terms of court were
held, but Judge Boreman held court for two days in 1862."”7 The
paucity of leases recorded in the County Clerk’s Office from 1861
to 1863 reflect the confusions and uncertainties of the times. Though
Burning Springs was still booming, leases and deeds either were not
submitted for record or someone failed to record them. An important
deed. to which reference will be made hereafter, was not admitted to
record until sixteen years after the war ended.'®

Many of the early oil operators at Burning Springs came from
Pennsylvania'® and were naturally sympathetic to the northern cause.
This was also true of many of the local operators, regardless of politi-
cal affiliation, though there was no unanimity among them. Some
declared for the North and some for the South. Among those who
went for the North were the Rathbone brothers, and those redoubt-
able cousins of Stonewall Jackson, John Jay Jackson and James
Moaroe Jackson.™

As soon as hostilities began Cass Rathbone, a staunch Unionist,
organized his own private army consisting of a troop of cavalry and
two infantry companies known locally as the Burning Springs Home
Guards. In the fall of 1861 the Home Guards were inducted into
Federal Service. The Burning Springs Home Guards were absorbed
imto the 11th Virginia Volunteers (Federal), and Rathbone was
commissioned Licutenant Colonel and made commanding officer
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hbuﬁs and legendary aspects of Burning Springs.
1 the 11th Virgigiak\/olu.nweas. was ordered oy

urning Springs to chase bushwhackers in adjoining (
gmnc Cift:::gss The regiment rounded up a number of It
including the notorious Dan Duskey who had robbed the ¥

Post Office and was ultimately pardoned by Abraham Lij
but there was little organized fighting. A number of people
Lilled on both sides in skirmishes and ambuscades. On Septe
2. 1862, Colonel J. C. Rathbone surrendered the remnants
| 1th Virginia Volunteers to Confederate General Albert G. J
at Spencer Court House in Roane County. He and Major Geo:
Trimble were dismissed from the service by Secretary of War §
for cowardly conduct on January 6, 1863, without a court martial
and apparently without the knowledge or the presence of Major
Trimble.™ e
On May 9, 1863, the town and the oil field of Burning Springs
were completely destroyed by Confederate cavalry detachment un
{iam E. Jones. Jones’ report, ‘m -

Late in 186

cribes the burning of a place called Oiltown, on the Little Kanawha
River, and claims that he destroyed 150,000 barrels of oil.** Oiltows
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plainly visible after nightfall to the delegates, the reporters, the
nel of the Annn;r’and Na (gunbog:ts): the inhabitants of
ersburg and the larger part of the population of the oil field,”*
the fire itself was not reported in the newspapers at the time, and,
what is even more remarkable, no government report, military or
otherwise, concerning it has been found in the Archives of the United
States.”” For some reason, probably ascribed to mﬂJtarZesecnnty,
the E:blic was told only that the raiders had destroyed the oil well
on the Little Kanawha River,” as if there was only one well instead
of hundreds, Nothing whatever was said in the press about the
destruction of §1,500,000 worth of oil, $40,000,000 worth of equip-
ment, and a town larger than Chambersburg, Pennsylvania. Nor has
this oversight been explained since the war. The American public
does not yet know that the Confederates destroyed one of the world’s
two oil fields in 1863.

On June 20, 1863, West Virginia was formally admitted into the
Union as a separate state. That same fall a man named C. H. Shat-
tuck, whose qualifications are unknown, made a report to the Com-
mussioner of Agriculture, Washington, D. C., in which he is said
to have estimated the annual oil production from the Burning Springs
Oil Field for the years 1861, 1862 and 1863 as follows:*” 1861,
4,000,000 gallons; 1862, 3,200,000 gallons; 1863, 2,000,000 gallons.

If these figures are anywise correct, and they are the only figures
available, we have a conflict in evidence here of monumental pro-
portions.  General Jones reported that he destroyed 150,000 barrels
which adds up to 4,735,000 gallons; the operators estimated their
bows 2t 300,000 barrels or 9,470,000 gallons. Since the Little
Kanawha River was unnavigable in dry weather, we may reasonably
suppose that every effort had been made to ship oil prior to May 9,
1863, The presence of 300,000 barrels (or even of 150,000 barrels)
at Burning Springs on that day is indicative of a normal daily inven-
tory of that amount, and the inventory cannot be reconciled, by any
bopeal standard, with the single oil well reported as destroyed in the

or with Shattuck's production figures. With respect to the

. & reasomable explanation suggests itself. Commercial crude
o Bas always been measured in barrels.”® Shattuck’s report was
made 1o the Commissioner of Agriculture, to whom oil terminology
wias possibly wafamiliar, and somecone (let us generously exonerate
Shartck ) ¢ barrels to the more famil'i:uurtulmrd
ot s what Shattuck’s figures read as :
INGL, 124,000 gallons; 1862, 100,800,000 gallons; 1863,
65 000 000 palions

These figures have an appearance of authenticity because pro-
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